

For returning nurses and midwives across the North East and Yorkshire region – August 2023



# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents	2
Introduction to Return to Practice	3
How is the programme funded?	3
How long does it take to complete the Return to Practice programme?	4
The Return to Practice programmes in the North East region	4
Routes for returning to practice	6
Option 1: Unpaid/Voluntary placement route	6
Option 2: Paid/Employer-led route	8
What can I do to prepare for the literacy and numeracy tests and any interview?	. 9
Preparing for success: Literacy and Numeracy Tests	9
Preparing for success: Your interview with the university and placement/employer	10
I have been offered a place on the programme. What happens next?1	1
Your placement experiences	11
Recipe for successful learning	12
Test of competence	14
Part 1: Computer Based Test (CBT)	14
Part 2: Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE)	15
Test of Competence funding option 1: Self-funded	15
Test of Competence funding option 2: employer funded	16
Appendix: Glossary	17
Appendix: Key Contacts	19
Appendix: References	20

#### **Introduction to Return to Practice**

The Return to Practice (RtP) programmes for nurses and midwives are supported by NHS England (NHSE), who recognises that supporting experienced nurses and midwives to return to practice is an effective route to strengthen our workforce and bring expertise back into practice.

If you have left practice and are unable to meet the **readmission requirements** set out by the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC), the Return to Practice programme might be the right option for you.

Your wealth of experience and your life skills are vital for today's NHS and care sector. Colleagues in practice placement settings are ready to welcome you, make you part of the team, and enable you to refresh your knowledge and skills as a registered nurse or midwife as quickly as possible.

Undertaking the RtP programme can feel like a daunting prospect, when you have been away from nursing or midwifery for a while, but we want to assure you that we understand the challenges, and the team will work with you to give you the best possible chance of success. There will be a huge body of goodwill, support and encouragement following you through the programme and the NHSE North East and Yorkshire RtP team, your university and your practice educators will support you if you are unsure about anything. In this guide, we will explain in detail the two different pathways to complete the RtP programme, including information about the Test of Competence (ToC).

After successful completion of the programme and regaining NMC registration, you will be ready to take up a registered nursing or midwifery role.

#### How is the programme funded?

NHSE North East and Yorkshire will pay for the tuition/university fees associated with the programme and will also provide you with a bursary to cover any out-of-pocket expenses (should you not be supported by an employing organisation), such as book costs, travel, and childcare, depending on the route you choose to return. This is currently £1000.

Funding for tuition fees is paid by NHSE North East and Yorkshire directly to your chosen university, and the bursary is either paid to the university or to the organisation supporting your placement, who then manages the transfer of the bursary to you. If you are employed in a healthcare role and being released to attend the Return to Practice course, you do not normally qualify for the bursary.

# How long does it take to complete the Return to Practice programme?

The programme usually takes between three and nine months to complete, depending on how long you have been away from practice and how quickly you complete your clinical proficiencies and placement hours. The length of time required to complete the programme will be established during an interview and further discussion you have with your university and the placement provider. For many universities it is a set amount of hours and can also be dependable on how long it may take to complete the practice assessment document.

# The Return to Practice programmes in the North East and Yorkshire region

The programme varies for each university, but as a standard, all programmes consist of theoretical study days at the university which can be face to face, online, or a mixture of the two (blended learning) and a placement in a clinical setting to undertake practice-based learning. There are separate Return to Practice programmes for each of the following fields of nursing and midwifery:

- Adult Nursing
- Child Nursing
- General Practice Nursing\*\*
- Learning Disability Nursing
- Mental Health Nursing
- Midwifery
- Nursing Associate
- Specialist Community Public Health Nursing (this includes school nursing, health visitors, occupational health nursing, and family health nursing)\*\*

\*\*If you are returning to Part 3 of the NMC register and you have lapsed Part 1 you will need to return to Part 1 first. This means that your placement will be bespoke for example, you will be allocated a placement within a health visiting team with part of that placement in either an Acute Trust or where you have access to adult nursing. If you remain on Part 1 of the register and wish to return to Part 3 your placement will be suitable for you to do so. You will be required to successfully meet the appropriate NMC Standards. For General Practice Nursing you will go back onto the register in the field you qualified in.

There are six universities that offer the RtP nursing programme in the North East and Yorkshire but not all offer all fields:

#### University of Cumbria (blended learning delivery)

For further information about the programme offered at the University of Cumbria, please visit this page or contact: Kim Hanson – Programme Lead, kim.hanson@cumbria.ac.uk

#### Northumbria University

For further information about the programme offered at Northumbria University, please visit <u>this page</u> or contact: Mike Stephenson - Programme Lead, mike.stephenson@northumbria.ac.uk

#### **Teesside University**

For further information about the programme offered at Teesside University, please visit this page or contact: Kay Scott – Programme Lead, kay.scott@tees.ac.uk

#### **Sheffield Hallam**

For further information about the programme offered at Sheffield Hallam, please visit this page or contact: Michaela Brown – Programme Lead, Michaela.brown@shu.ac.uk

#### University of Bradford

For further information about the programme offered at the University of Bradford, please visit this page or contact: Fi Croucher – Programme Lead, f.croucher@bradford.ac.uk

#### **Coventry University Scarborough Campus**

For further information about the programme offered at Coventry University Scarborough Campus, please visit this page or contact: Bronia Pennycook-Gibson – Programme Lead, ad7427@coventry.ac.uk

There is also a distance learning programme provided by the following universities:

#### University of Plymouth (Distance Learning)

For further information about the programme offered at the University of Plymouth, please visit this page or contact: Adele Kane – Programme Lead, adele.kane@plymouth.ac.uk

There are a number of options to offer return to midwifery in the North East and Yorkshire:

#### University of Cumbria (blended learning delivery) - Midwifery

For further information about the programme offered at the University of Cumbria, please visit this page or contact: Kim Hanson – Programme Lead, kim.hanson@cumbria.ac.uk

#### Northumbria University - Midwifery

For further information about the programme offered at the Northumbria University, please visit this page or contact: Mike Stephenson - Programme Lead, mike.stephenson@northumbria.ac.uk

There is also a distance learning programme:

#### University of Plymouth (Distance Learning) - Midwifery

For further information about the programme offered at the University of Plymouth, please visit this page or contact: Adele Kane – Programme Lead, adele.kane@plymouth.ac.uk

There may be alternative university courses to explore, so feel free to discuss with the North East and Yorkshire regional RtP lead or see other courses available across the country – NHS Health Careers Course Finder

#### Routes for returning to practice

You can undertake the programme either as a paid permanent employee of a trust (should a vacancy be available for this option, and the organisation support this route), or through a voluntary, unpaid, time specific placement organised by the university.

#### **Option 1: Unpaid/Voluntary placement route**

With the voluntary route, you are not paid whilst you are on your training, so you will not receive a salary during your placement, but you will receive a £1000 bursary from NHSE North East and Yorkshire. The benefit of this option is that you can maintain your current financial situation – crucial if you are on benefits, or have another job, for example.

#### Benefit of Unpaid/Voluntary placement route: Flexibility

The voluntary/unpaid route can also offer more flexibility in terms of length and regularity of your clinical placement hours, allowing the programme to fit in with your home/personal life, which is important if you have dependents, families, or other employment.

When your university has supported/guided you to find a suitable clinical placement, we would advise you to have discussions with your clinical placement about your shift preferences during any formal/informal interview stages, to ensure they also consider how to accommodate any specific requirements, whilst also managing your own expectations, as you may be required to show some flexibility.

#### Unpaid/Voluntary placement application, recruitment, and selection process

Whilst we encourage our local universities to offer the same application, recruitment, and selection process, each will differ slightly. However, as a rule, the process of applying for an unpaid/voluntary RtP programme will involve a process like the one set out below:

Step 1: Returner completes the programme application to their chosen university.

**Step 2:** The university will either liaise with the returner to discuss the placement preferences and begin the process of finding a suitable clinical placement or will advise the returner to confirm their own placement by signposting the returner directly to specific trusts or local organisations. Your regional RTP Coordinator can also help with this.

**Step 3:** The university may require the returner to undertake a literacy and numeracy assessment in some form. If further support is required, the returner may be signposted to further support for literacy, numeracy and digital skills. Here are some good resources: https://www.bbc.co.uk/teach/skillswise

For further support with any additional study skills, you may find the following resources useful: https://www.open.edu/openlearn/skills-for-study

**Step 4:** The returner will be invited to undertake an interview with the university. In some cases, the interview will also be held in partnership with the clinical placement. This is likely to be online currently.

**Step 5:** If the returner is successful at the interview they are then formally accepted onto the programme and allocated a clinical placement.

**Step 6:** The university will provide the returner with a conditional offer and will begin the process of arranging the returner's registration onto the programme, undertake occupational health checks, Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks and reference checks, and provide the returner with a uniform. (This can sometimes be undertaken by a placement provider)

**Step 7:** The clinical placement will confirm the placement arrangements and ensure a full induction is in place for the returner. We would strongly advise you to contact your chosen university for further information about their application, recruitment, and selection process.

#### **Option 2: Paid/Employer-led route**

With the paid/employer-led route, you will usually be expected to search and apply for return to practice vacancies via NHS Jobs before applying to the university, but we would advise you to also contact the university as a first step to register your interest and find out more specific information about the application, recruitment process and specific requirements involved with this route. The university can also put you in contact with placement providers. There are several resources to support you to write an application.

- Writing your application form: https://www.jobs.nhs.uk/advice/write\_appform.html
- General advice on completing an application form:

https://www.jobs.nhs.uk/help/appformhelp\_1.html

• Making a successful application: https://www.jobs.nhs.uk/advice/success\_applics.html

If your application is accepted, you will usually be invited to a joint interview with the employing trust/organisation and the university that works in partnership with that trust. If successful at the interview, the trust will offer you a position, and will pay you the salary equivalent of a Healthcare Assistant/Support Worker role for the duration of the programme until you have successfully completed and re-registered with the NMC. At that point, you will then be uplifted to a permanent Registered Nurse or Midwife position as appropriate. Through this route, you do not receive the £1000 student bursary, however you will be paid a salary and be included in the pension scheme when you start your practice hours.

It is important to note that your specific RtP clinical placement hours will not take up all your contracted hours you are employed for. Your remaining contracted hours will involve working as a Healthcare Assistant/Support Worker. We would advise you to discuss how those hours will be differentiated during the application and interview process.

#### Benefit of Paid/Employer-led route: earn whilst you learn and guaranteed job security

The employer led/paid route offers the benefit of allowing you to work during your studies and gives you peace of mind that you have a permanent nursing or midwifery role secured upon successful completion of the programme. You should also have protected time to attend any required university study days and training.

#### Paid/Employer-led application, recruitment, and selection process

As a rule, the process of applying for a paid/employer-led programme will involve a similar process as set out below:

**Step 1:** Returner completes an initial application to the university or applies for a RtP vacancy through NHS Jobs or trust website or contacts a placement provider directly. Do check NHS Jobs on a regular basis for these adverts and set up any notifications.

**Step 2:** If the returner's application is successful, they will be invited to an NHS valuesbased interview likely to be with both the university and the trust.

**Step 3:** If successful will also be offered a contract of employment as a Band 2/3 returner by the trust.

**Step 4:** If the returner accepts the offer made by the university and the trust, the university or employer will then send a conditional offer to the returner, arrange the returner's registration onto the programme and provide the returner with a uniform, unless the trust has specified otherwise.

**Step 5:** The trust will undertake occupational health checks, DBS check and reference checks. They will also confirm the returner's employment start date and ensure there is a full induction in place.

# What can I do to prepare for the literacy and numeracy tests and any interview?

Regardless of the route you choose to pursue, you may be expected to undertake a literacy and numeracy test, and an interview with the university course provider and your prospective clinical placement/employer, however we would advise you to check with the university what their application and shortlisting process involves.

#### **Preparing for success: Literacy and Numeracy Tests**

The literacy test evaluates a candidate's ability to read, write and comprehend text in English. It is designed to test basic skills like grammar and punctuation as well as the ability to understand a text and pick out key information.

It is important for the NHS to check your literacy skills as your role is likely to involve processing medical information, as well as communicating with doctors, medical staff, and patients in person, by phone, or via email.

The questions are typically multiple choice so make sure to read the questions carefully.

As the test is multiple choice, this means that you don't technically need to prepare anything in advance. However, it is a good idea to get familiar with the types of questions beforehand,

so you don't make mistakes on the day. Brush up on your literacy skills and take some online practice tests.

The numeracy, or mathematics test, will evaluate your ability to do basic calculations and apply numerical reasoning to different situations. The NHS looks for candidates with strong numeracy skills that will help them excel in the role and resolve problems quickly.

You will encounter some questions that test you on addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division. You may also be questioned on more complex equations to do with calculating drug doses and other mathematics-based tasks that could come up in your NHS role. Doing practice questions is a great way to familiarise yourself with the types of questions you may find on the test. This will help you stay calm and answer questions efficiently on that day.

If you are interested in developing your numeracy and literacy skills you may find these practice tests useful.

# Preparing for success: Your interview with the university and placement/employer

In preparation for the interview, we recommend that you think about the reason you want to come back to nursing/midwifery and consider some of the changes that have happened since you left.

Take time to look at some websites – we would recommend the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC), the Royal College of Nursing (RCN), Royal College of Midwives (RCM) and (if applicable) the trust or placement provider you may be interviewed by. Also talk to friends/colleagues who are currently in practice and access the Nursing news and articles of interest.

Develop an awareness of issues related to the NHS and your field of practice that are reported in the media. It is also a good idea to identify how you plan to manage the demands of returning to study and practice and to identify some strategies you might want to put in place to ensure you maintain good work and life balance.

Values – Some questions you may be asked could be values based which you cannot prepare for necessarily but maybe worth visiting The NHS Values web page.

As with most NHS interviews, it is likely that you will be asked some competency-based questions, so practice your interview skills, using the STAR technique:



# I have been offered a place on the programme. What happens next?

Whilst every application process varies slightly, the university will usually provide you with a conditional offer in writing and will begin the process of arranging your registration onto the programme. Prior to commencing the programme, the university (or the clinical placement/employer) will undertake occupational health checks, DBS checks and reference checks, and they will provide you with a uniform.

The clinical placement/employer will confirm the placement arrangements with you, such as the start date and proposed shift pattern, and will also ensure a full induction is in place for you.

#### Your placement experiences

When you start your clinical placement or employment, you will be assigned a practice assessor. They are crucial to your success, and they are chosen for their commitment to helping returning nurses/midwives. They'll support you to learn in placement by:

- Working directly with you.
- Facilitating learning opportunities.
- Reflecting on your experiences to link theory and practice; and

• Facilitating opportunities to work with other healthcare professionals.

The practice assessor is there to assess and support you with all your skills and the completion of the Practice Assessment Document (PAD). They will also assess your professional approach. In addition, the practice assessor confirms if you are fit to practice safely and if you are suitable for re-entry to the NMC register.

The PAD maybe a paper or electronic document, which records your activities and experiences. Start this early. Plan each day with a strong focus and discuss it with your practice assessor, other nurses/midwives, or the wider multidisciplinary team at the start of the day. Your PAD must be signed regularly for the hours completed.

#### Recipe for successful learning

- Seek learning opportunities, ask questions, and show interest.
- Familiarise yourself with digital record-keeping and progress monitoring.
- Build your skills in writing accurate, clear, legible records and documentation.
- Understand and be able to use digital vital signs technology.
- Participate in safeguarding, multi-disciplinary and discharge planning.
- Observe how colleagues manage uncertainty; discuss ways to build your resilience.
- Understand the complexity of patients' needs.
- Familiarise yourself with how to use commonly encountered devices safely.
- Develop your understanding of, and the ability to challenge, discriminatory behaviour.
- Develop your understanding of person-centered holistic care.
- Demonstrate the ability to prioritise patients.
- Observe how your colleagues' communication skills keep patients, families and carers informed.

### What to do if things don't go to plan:

There are many reasons why things may not go the way you expected them to. If this is the case, you will be offered support from your university course lead, your practice assessor, and other members of the RtP team. It is important to have early and open conversations with your practice assessor to address any issues.

You can also contact your local Freedom to Speak up Guardian who can support workers to speak up if they feel they are unable to in other ways. There are over 1000 Freedom to Speak up Guardians in the NHS and independent sector organisations, national bodies and elsewhere. To find your FTSU guardian please visit this page.

In the meantime, here is some guidance published in an article on *NHS Horizons* by Bev Matthews, Clinical Transformation Lead, if you are considering returning to practice or currently in the process of returning to practice:

One of the best things about the return to practice course is the varying experience; there are senior managers in the NHS and people who were unable to take a job when they initially qualified; some have been away for over 20 years, and some only recently have their registration lapsed.

#### Reflect

Reflection is a wonderful skill and isn't just about being academic or when things go wrong. Part of returning is to know your strengths and address areas to work on and something we should be doing every day not just to pass an exam or part of revalidation.

Developing reflective skills is important in building resilience, job applications and personal relationships, and in identifying that you do something well isn't big headed or arrogant, it is being fair and honest.

#### Be honest

Whether things are good or bad, it's important to be honest about it as dangerous practice flourishes when we get into a culture of silence. If you make a mistake, it is crucial that you acknowledge it, apologise appropriately and honestly, reflect on it (this ensures it remains one mistake, rather than a pattern of behaviour) and then it is likely not to be repeated. Your practice supervisor and assessor will be able to support you if this happens.

#### Find different coping mechanisms to deal with problems

Sometimes avoidance works well; however, as a long-term strategy and in nursing/midwifery it is not healthy to avoid problems, hoping that they go away (particularly in relation to academic work).

Try and be pro-active in addressing problems. For example, an honest and tactful conversation with a practice supervisor/ assessor about things that may be concerning you could clear up any issues before they become a bigger issue.

Returning to nursing or midwifery can be a roller coaster of ups and downs, but there is lots of support to help you navigate through the journey.

### **Test of competence**

There is another route to regain your registration, called the Test of Competence (ToC). This is a route introduced by NMC which has been effective from January 2020, to improve flexibility and provide an alternative route to re-registration.

For more detailed information about the ToC, please visit this page.

The ToC does not require you to attend a university, or a clinical placement, and could potentially offer a quicker route back to practice. However, this is not the "easy option" back to practice – please do your research to decide whether this is right for you. We would not encourage returners to undertake the ToC without preparation or recent practice-based experience in a supported clinical environment.

The ToC is made up of two parts:

#### Part 1: Computer Based Test (CBT)

The multiple-choice computer based theoretical test (known as the CBT) is split into two parts. Part A will cover numeracy and Part B will cover clinical questions.

- Further information about the CBT can be found here
- We would advise you to try out some practice tests here
- Further advice about preparing for the CBT can be found here

You will be required to undertake your CBT at an approved Pearson VUE test centre. You can search for your local test centre here

The cost of the CBT at the time of publication: £83.

#### Part 2: Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE)

This is a practical test made up of 10 different stations. Four stations will be linked together around a scenario: one station for assessment, planning, implementation, and evaluation, four stations to test skills, and two stations to assess the candidate's values and behaviours and evidence-based practice.

There are two approved OSCE test providers based in the Northeast and Yorkshire:

- Northumbria University
- Leeds Teaching Hospitals

We would advise you to visit the websites above for further information about the tests and how to prepare and ensure that you choose the most appropriate test provider that you would be willing to travel to.

There are also OSCE Centres at the following Universities:

- University of Northampton
- Oxford Brookes University
- Ulster University

Further information about the OSCE can be found here

Cost at the time of publication: £794 (re-sit fee is £397 if you need to re-sit 7 or fewer stations)

To book the CBT and the OSCE, you will need to register for this through your NMC Online Account. Once the NMC has confirmed that you can take the ToC, they will provide you with information about how to book and pay for your CBT and OSCE with the relevant test providers.

#### **Test of Competence funding option 1: Self-funded**

With the self-funded option, you will pay for and schedule your own ToC, but NHSE will reimburse the ToC fees, on the basis that you can provide evidence of meeting the following criteria:

- Successful Test of Competence pass
- Reside in England
- Provide receipts from Pearson Vue/OSCE Test Centres for CBT and OSCE

- NMC re-registration details
- Provide a current DBS
- Evidence of a contract of employment as a registered nurse (stating the contracted hours)

For further information about the eligibility criteria and requesting a reimbursement, please contact: <u>england.returntopractice.north@nhs.net</u>

### **Test of Competence funding option 2: employer funded**

With this option, like the employer-led return to practice route, the employing organisation will advertise either fixed term vacancies, or permanent vacancies for returners who are looking to undertake the ToC to then transition into a permanent registered nursing or midwifery position following successful completion and reregistration with the NMC.

With this option, the returner will undertake a OSCE preparation programme within the employing organisation, so that they are given the best possible chance of success. The employing organisation will fund the returner to undertake the CBT and OSCE and will support the returner to book their tests.

If you are looking for employer sponsored opportunities, please search NHS Jobs.

With this employer funded option, funding for re-sits is discretionary and based on extenuating circumstances, and any travel expenses to and from test centres will be offered on a case-by- case basis and are agreed at the discretion of the employing organisation.

### **Appendix: Glossary**

Bursary: non-repayable monetary support designed to assist students to pay for things like clothing, books and other equipment for their course.

CBT: Computer Based Test.

Clinical competencies: skills required to provide safe care to patients, and to accurately assess and critically think through the best options for care using evidence-based practice

Clinical placement: the setting where a returner will undertake practice-based learning.

Competency based interview: questions which aim to find out how someone has used specific skills in their previous experience and how they approach problems, tasks and challenges.

DBS: Disclosure and Barring Service: the organisation that analyses a person's past, looking specifically at any convictions, cautions, reprimands and warnings they may have received. This allows employers to make safer recruitment decisions.

NHSE: National Health Service England

Induction: the process for welcoming newly recruited employees and supporting them to adjust to their new roles and working environments.

NHS values-based interview: a recruitment approach which attracts and recruits students, trainees and employees on the basis that their individual values and behaviours align with the values of the NHS Constitution.

NMC: Nursing and Midwifery Council.

OSCE: Objective Structured Clinical Examination. PAD: Practice Assessment Document. This is the paperwork that will be used by the returner to help develop their professional practice and sign off the competencies required of the programme.

PIN: a Personal Identification Number which is assigned by the NMC. The PIN is compulsory for working as a nurse in the UK.

Placement Provider: the organisation where the returner will undertake their practice-based learning.

Practice Assessor: The individual that assess a student's practice learning for a placement or a series of placements.

Practice Educators: The individual that provides support and education to students to improve their professional practice.

RtP: Return to Practice.

STAR technique: this stands for Situation, Task, Action, Result. Using this strategy is particularly helpful in response to competency-focused questions, which typically start out with phrases such as, "Describe a time when..." and "Share an example of a situation where......"

ToC: Test of Competence. This is an alternative route to return to practice.

## **Appendix: Key Contacts**

#### NHS England North East and Yorkshire region contact: Sarah Seales

You can contact your regional HEE RtP lead for advice and guidance about anything mentioned in this resource at the following email address:

england.returntopracticeney@nhs.net or england.returntopractice.north@nhs.net and Telephone: 0191 275 4796

#### **Health Education England regional contacts**

If you reside outside of the North East and Yorkshire, and are interested in returning to practice, please contact your regional RTP lead:

Health Education England: South West: england.returntopractice.sw@nhs.net

Health Education England: East of England: england.rtp.eoe@nhs.net

Health Education England: London: england.returntopractice.london@nhs.net

Health Education England: South East: england.returntopractice.se@nhs.net

Health Education England: North West: england.nw.nursing@nhs.net

Health Education England: Midlands and East: england.nursingandmidwifery.midlands@nhs.net

#### **Appendix: References**

Article: Return to Practice, it may be tough but it's worth it

https://nhshorizons.passle.net/post/102fokb/return-to-practice-it-may-be-tough-but-its-worth-it

Leaflet: Capital Nurse: *Thinking of returning to Nursing? https://www.whittington.nhs.uk/document.ashx?id=13012* 

Article: How to Use the STAR Interview Response Method

https://www.thebalancecareers.com/what-is-the-star-interview-response-technique-2061629